PAVING THE ROAD TO SINAI: GEORGIOS
AND MARIA SOTERIOU ON THE HOLY MOUNTAIN
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eorgios Soteriou was born on the island of Spetses, off the eastern shore of
the Peloponnese, in 1880. Having completed his studies at the Rizareios
Ecclesiastical College in 1899, he then graduated from the Theology Faculty
of the University of Athens in 1904. After a five-year stint as a high school teacher
in Larissa (1905-09), where he met his future wife, he moved first to Germanyand
then Austriafor post-graduate studies. Maria Soteriou, then only twenty-one years
old, followed him. In Leipzig, Berlin, and Vienna they attended lectures and semi-
nars by eminent Byzantinists, such as O. Wulff and J. Strzygowski. Having spent
three yearsabroad, the couple returned to Greece in 1912, just before the outbreak
of the First Balkan War. Soteriou was drafted by the army, and after the end of the
war he taught for a year at Athenian high schools. In 1915 he joined the Archaeo-
logical Service and became General Director of Byzantine Antiquities.’
Georgios Soteriou was among the first Greek archacologists who systematically
studied Byzantine monuments and conducted excavations under the auspices of
the Archacological Service. His research revealed a number of important Early
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Christian basilicas, both inside and outside Greek borders. From December 1916
until May 1917, his excavation by the Ilissos River in Athens revealed the homony-
mous fifth-century basilica. In the summer of 1921 and 1922 he went to Ephesus in
Turkey, where he discovered the basilica of St John the Theologian. In 1923 he be-
gan excavatingin Nea Anchialos, outside Volos, Greece, where he eventually revealed
the hitherto unknown Early Christian city of Christian Thebes.” His contribution
to the restoration of the basilica of St Demetrius in Thessalonica was instrumental.
The church was almost completely in ruins after the disastrous fire of 1917, and
Soteriou was summoned to study and excavate it before its final restoration. His
research resulted in the publication of two volumes in 1952. It is worth remember-
ing that in almost all those expeditions his wife, Maria, was an active participant,
arole acknowledged in her co-authoring the book on the church of St Demetrius.’

His subsequent appointment as Director of the Byzantine and Christian
Museum of Athens in 1923 came as an acknowledgement of his contribution to
Byzantine Archaeology. Although the Museum had existed on paper since 1914,
the various artefacts which formed its collection had up to then been temporarily
housed in the building of the Athens Academy.” Soteriou’s role was pivotal in
securing a permanent home for the Museum. Through fervent campaigning,
constant petitioning, and vociferous articles in the press, he managed to save a
Renaissance-looking mansion in central Athens from demolition. The so-called
VillaIlissia, which belonged to the French-American Duchess of Plaisance, Sophie
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de Marbois-Lebrun, was to become the seat of the new museum and still forms the
core of it to this day. The date of the inauguration was 17 October 1930, chosen
to coincide with the Third International Congress of Byzantine Studies, held in
Athens that year. From then onwards Maria and Georgios Soteriou made the
museum’s premises their permanent home.” In 1924 Soteriou became the first
Professor of Christian Archacology and Palacography at the Faculty of Theology
of the University of Athens. Two yearslater, in 1926, he was among the first thirty-
nine appointed members of the newly founded Academy of Athens.*

Influenced by the nationalistic spirit prevalent in Greece at the time and in
spite of the disastrous outcome of the military expedition in Asia Minor in 1922,
Soteriou actively expanded research outside the borders of the Greek state.” He
responded instantly to requests from areas which had once formed part of the
Byzantine Empire, such as Constantinople, Egypt, Sinai, and Cyprus. Moreover,
having been trained essentially as a theologian, and specializing in what was then
considered ‘Christian’ archacology, Soteriou maintained good relations with the
higher ecclesiastical hierarchy.® He had already been director of the Byzantine and
Christian Museum of Athens for almost a decade when, in 1931, he was invited by
the Archbishop of Cyprus to study the Byzantine monuments of the island.” Later
that year, a preliminary account of his research appeared in the Proceedings of the
Athens Academy, while the first volume with the plates followed in 1935."°In 1933,
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Photios II, the then Patriarch of Constantinople, invited him to record the relics
kept in the sacristy of the Patriarchal church."' The expedition resulted in a
hundred-page publication in 1937, which included detailed descriptions of the icons,
manuscripts, and liturgical vestments, accompanied by sixty-four high-quality black-
and-white photographs.'? In 1936 the Patriarch of Alexandria, Nikolaos, asked him
to organize the new ecclesiastical museum, housed in the Monastery of St George
in Old Cairo."” In the summer of 1938, he travelled to Egypt together with his wife,
where he catalogued the Byzantine and post-Byzantine icons kept in the monastery,
together with those in the cathedral of St Savvas in Alexandria. The results were
published the same year in the Patriarchate’s periodical, Ekklesiastikos Pharos."*
During his visit to Cairo in the summer of 1938, Georgios and Maria Soteriou
went to Sinai, following an invitation extended by the Archbishop of Sinai, Por-
phyrios III, earlier that year (see Figure 2 in the Introduction).” On the Holy
Mountain, the two of them went through the monastery’s icon collection and
selected the most important of them to be photographed by G. Tsimas, the pas-
sionate photographer of the Greek National Archacological Museum (Figure 3).'¢
The Soterious came across both Byzantine and post-Byzantine icons hanging on
the walls of the catholicon and its chapels or deposited in monastic cells, the
library, and the sacristy."” Although icons in public places were visible to any
visitor, up to that time nobody had access to material kept in the sacristy."®

' dutgdkn, Tewpoyog Ayy. Zwmeiov, p. 22. Ané tn Xpotiaviksy ZvAdoyn ato
BuCavtivo Movoeio, ed. by I'kpdtliov and AalaQidov, p. 316, no. 518 (letter by Patriarch
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Figure 3. Archbishop Porphyrios III, Georgios and Maria Soteriou, and their team pose
in front of the walls of Sinai. Athens, Byzantine and Christian Museum, 1938.
Photograph: Courtesy of the Byzantine and Christian Museum.

Before the end of that year, the first brief report on the treasures of Sinai
appeared in Greek scholarly press, to be followed a year later by an article in a
foreign journal. In the former publication Soteriou stresses ‘the inestimable artistic
and archaeological value of these icons’. He compares Mount Sinai to Mount
Athos, which ‘despite its twenty monasteriesand many hermitages does not possess
even an infinitesimal part of the Sinai Byzantine icons’ and concludes that ‘these
precious relics unquestionably form the richest Byzantine gallery in the world’."””
In another article in Byzantion, Soteriou hopes that ‘their [the icons’] publication
will illuminate the history of Byzantine icons, this area of Byzantine art which
remains so obscure because of dated monuments’. He presents six ‘of these very
precious Byzantine icons’ from various periods, starting with the sixth-century

P Tedgytog A. Zwtngiov, T keypuAia thg Movij Zwvi, Néa ‘Eotia, Christmas issue
(1938), 51-53, with 2 figs.
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encaustic icon of the Virgin with saints, followed by a twelfth-century specimen,
and concluding with a thirteenth-century ‘Franco-Byzantine’ icon.”

The outbreak of the Second World War brought things to astandstill, but eight
years later Soteriou dedicated an article to two of the most famous encaustic icons
of the monastery’s collection: the sixth-century Virgin with military saints and St
Peter.”' During the Eighth International Congress of Byzantine Studies, held in
Palermo, Italy, in 1951, Soteriou presented a paper on the mosaic of the Transfig-
uration in the apse of the catholicon.?” Although the apse mosaic had been known
for quite some time, this was the first time that it was described and illustrated in
detail The same year he published two more specimens from the Sinai collection,
the famous pair of thirteenth-century icons of prophets Elijah and Moses, bearing
Greck and Arabic inscriptions.* In his next article, two years later, he examined
some frescoes from two recently discovered chapels in the walls of the monastery.”

Although Soteriou played a decisive role in presenting the Sinai icons to the
scholarly community, Porphyrios III was instrumental in opening up the mon-
astery and its collections to scholars, especially Greek ones. Archbishop of Sinai,

20 TechoytogA. Zwtniov, ‘Iednes byzantines du monastere du Sinai’, Byzantion, 14 (1939),
325-27, with 6 pls.
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€ tkav oL &rtootdAov ITétoov s Movig Zwvi’, TIATKAPIIEIA’: Mélanges Henri Grégoire,
Annuaire de Ulnstituts de Philologie et d’Histoire Orientales et Slaves, 10 (1950), 607-10, with 2 pls.
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(1924), 144-72. In contrast, Soteriou’s article included fifteen plates.
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Patriarcale d’Alexandrie, Publications de 'Institut d’Etudes Orientales de la Bibliotheque Patriar-
cale d’Alexandrie, 2 (AAeEavdoeia: Tvaotitodtov AvatoA v Emovddv, 1953,), pp. 153-55,
with 1 plate. Based on palacographic evidence, the icons had been dated in the eleventh century
(M. H. L. Rubino, Le Monastére de St Catherine du Monte Sinai (Cairo: Royal automobile club
d’Egypte, 1938), pp. 59-60) but Soteriou argued that stylistically they should be dated in the
fifteenth century.
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Pharan, and Raithou from 1926 until 1968, he was known to be a gentle man who
cared deeply for the monastery’s relics. The acquaintance of the two men, Arch-
bishop Porphyrios and Professor Soteriou, goes back at least a couple of years
before the latter’sarrival at the Holy Mountain. In aletter to the Archbishop dated
29 January 1933, Soteriou thanks Porphyrios for a book he had sent him. The
book, an extensive history of the monastery from its foundation up until the time
of Napoleon, with a catalogue of the Sinaite archbishops, was published by the
monastery, care of the Archbishop himself.*® In the letter Soteriou expresses the
wish that he were able to visit Sinai so that he ‘would acquire first-hand knowledge
of the precious treasures of the mind and the art, which are possessively guarded by
ahandful of Greek monks for the past fourteen centuries’. Replying to his letter in
February 1933, Porphyrios agrees with Soteriou’s remark that ‘itis indeed sad that
up to now, except for Professor Amantos and Headmaster Pantelakes, only nume-
rous foreigners visit the Holy Mountain from time to time in order to indulge in
its rich spiritual pasture and appropriate the glory that belongs mainly to the
Greeks’. The Archbishop adds that ‘this treasure remains largely unexploited and
awaits those who have the right and call themselves Greeks to present it to the
whole scholarly world. The monastery is proud’, he continues, ‘to have a Professor
of your eminence act as a vocal advocate of its significance and it would be even
happier if you decided to visit it and appreciate these precious relics of ancestral
wisdom and impeccable faith that are kept here’. He concludes the letter with the
‘fervent wish that our common desire be fulfilled’.*’

Georgios Soteriou was by then an accomplished scholar and perhaps theleading
Byzantinist of his time. Since 1924 he had also been teaching youngstudents at the
Theology Faculty, who later joined the Church or taught in high schools. One of
those students was Gregorios Maniates who, after completing his studies at the
university, became an archimandrite on Sinai. Maniates acted as a link between
Soteriou and Porphyrios, beingin contact both with his former professor and with
the Archbishop, and Soteriou duly acknowledged his contribution.*®

Another connection between Soteriou and Sinai had been provided by his
fellow member of the Academy, the Byzantine historian Konstantinos Amantos.
From 1912 to 1914 Amantos was invited by the Archbishop of Sinai, Porphyrios II,
to act as Director of the Abeteios School in Cairo, which had been founded by the

26 Appendix, Letter A. TlamaptxaAdmovAog, ‘H Movi) Tod ‘Opove Zwvd.
*7 Appendix, Letter A.
¥ Ywmolov, E ixkovec tic poviic Zwa, 1, 6.
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Hellenized Syrian brothers Abetin 1860.*” The school, which by that time had one
thousand students, was meant to serve the Greek community of Egypt and is still
functioning today. It maintained a close connection with the monastery, since the
Archbishop of Sinai was the designated president of the school’s committee.”
Amantos was the first to alert the scholarly community to the plethora of icons kept
on the Holy Mountain. During his two-year sojourn in Cairo, Amantos travelled
to Sinai, a visit which resulted in the publication of a slim but important volume
with unpublished documentary material from the monastery.’* Among the sigils,
memoirs, and testaments, Amantos included numerous inscriptions and their fac-
similes, mainly from post-Byzantine iconskeptin the monastery’s collection. Quite
afew of these were signed by famous Cretan painters, such as Emmanouel Tzanes,
Michail Damaskinos, Georgios Klontzas, Emmanouel Lampardos, Ieremias Pal-
ladas, Victor, etc., although some Byzantine works were also included. Some years
later Amantos also published a short history of the monastery itself.”

Soteriou and Amantos led parallel courses: in 1924 Amantos became the first
professor of Byzantine History at the University of Athens, the very same year that
Soteriou was elected Professor at the Faculty of Theology of the same university.
They were both among the first appointed members of the Athens Academy in
1926, the very year of its foundation.” In the introduction of hisbook on the icons
of Sinai, Soteriou explicitly thanks Professor Amantos, ‘who drew our [Soteriou’s]
attention to the archacological value and the existing richness of the Byzantine
icons in the monastery’.**

* NuwcdAaog B. Twpaddrng, ‘Kwvoravtivog . Apavtog, 1874-1960: Bioyoadukdv
Inueioped, in Eic pvaunv K. L Audvtov (1874-1960), ed. by B. Twpaddxng (AOfAvat:
Tvnoypade tov Mnva Muotidn), 1960), a'-ot' (0').

* MartovAa Topagd-Lidéon, ‘H Apmételog xoAr) ota téAn tov 19” auwoved, in
EAAnvixa otopixa exmadevtnpia otn Meooyeio amno tnv apxaiotnta péxpL onuepa:
Ipaxtixa ovvedpiov, Xioc, 18-21 Oxtwpfpiov 2001, ed. by TacovAa MavddAa (Xiog:
Ymovgyeio ITawdeiag kot Ognokevpatwyv kat Afjpog Xiov, 2002), pp. 261-66.

! Kwvotavt ivog T Apavtog, Zwvaitucd pvnue ia dvéxdota, EAAvika, Tapdptnpa
1 CEvAB1vais: ZVAA0Yog mdg dtadoav wpeAipwv BpAlwv, 1928).

2 Kewvotavtivog1. "Apavtog, Zovtopoc totopia i Tepic Moviic tod Zwa, ‘EAAnvika,
Hapaptnua 3 (@sooaovikn: Etapeia Makedovik@v Zmovddv, 1953).
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BuCavtivric Iotopiag oto Havemotuio ABnvov, Mviuwv, 15 (1993), 257-76 (pp.
264-65, n. 30).
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During the couple’s sojourn on Sinai, a building programme began which
would provide the monastery with alibrary and a guests’ room. It was at Soteriou’s
instigation that a gallery began to be built, in order to house the icon collection. In
a letter, dated 12 March 1939, Porphyrios is hopeful that the monastery would
soon acquire both alibrary and a gallery.” In the same letter he thanks Soteriou for
sending him his publication on the treasures of the Ecumenical Patriarchate and
wishes that the Sinai icons would soon be ‘described’ by the Professor’s ‘pious and
eloquent pen’. The Archbishop is ‘proud that thanks to God’s grace we are
guardians of so many precious and holy treasures. ‘If’, he adds, ‘God blesses us to
see them placed in a location they deserve and published by the wise Professor
G. Soteriou, our joy will be complete’.

Porphyrios’s wish came true in 1956, when the first volume with the plates of
the Sinai icons appeared, followed by the text in 1958. The so-called album com-
prised 238 black-and-white figuresand 8 colour plates, accompanied by twenty-five
pages of text. The second volume included 226 pages of text and 7 black-and-white
figures, followed by a twenty-one-page summary in French. Both volumes were
published by the French Institute in Athens, then under the enlightened director-
ship of Octave Merlier. Although not complete by any means, this was essentially
the first systematic attempt to create a photographic record, as well as describe,
date, and classify this unique but otherwise unknown collection of icons, dating
from the fifth to the fifteenth centuries. Of a total of around two thousand existing
icons, 238 of them were presented here for the first time. This rare material was
divided into ten chapters and arranged chronologically and thematically: the first
chapter dealt with the famous encaustic icons of the fifth to the seventh centuries;
the second comprised icons dating from the seventh to the ninth centuries, which
were grouped under the heading ‘Eastern monastic art’; the next three chapters
covered the period from the ninth century to the ‘Comnenian era’. Chapter 6
included icons that came from an epistyle or an iconostasis and dating from the
eleventh to the thirteenth centuries, while chapter 7 detailed the so-called meno-
logion or calendar icons. The next chapter contained icons of the twelfth to the
fifteenth centuries with depictions of Sinaite saints, while a separate chapter was
dedicated to thirteenth-centuryicons. The last chapter concluded with icons of the
‘Palacologan era, fourteenth to fifteenth century’.

3 Appendix, Letter C.

3¢ Ywmolov, Eixévec tic Moviic L, vol. 1: Album, and Tewgyiov kaw Magiag
Ywtnolov, E txovec tiic Moviic Zwa, vol. 11: Text, Collection de I'Institut Frangais d’Athenes,
102 (AOfva: Institut Frangais d’Athénes, 1958).
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By the time the volumes went to press, Soteriou’s activity had been restricted
by poor health and bad eyesight.”” An accident during preparations to reopen the
Museum after the Second World War forced him to walk with a cane until the end
ofhislifein 1965.”® Maria Soteriou, his life- and work-companion, was instrumen-
tal in seeing the Sinai project completed. In the spring of 1954, Maria Soteriou,
together with a photographic crew, travelled to Sinai withouther husband in order
to study the icons further and complete the photographic archive with detailed
black-and-white, as well as colour, images. On Sinai she was assisted by archiman-
drite Gregorios Maniates, Soteriou’s former student. Soteriou had already allocated
to Maniates the classification and cataloguing of the monastery’s icon collection,
which the latter carried out under his professor’s constant supervision and
guidance.”” Back in Athens, Maria Soteriou collaborated with her husband to
produce the accompanying text. In matters both practical and scientific, her con-
tribution proved crucial for the final stages of completion, and it is not surprising
that, just as in the book on St Demetrius, she was credited as the coauthor of the
Sinai study.*’

Although Maria Soteriou had no formal training in Byzantine art and archae-
ology, she was an accomplished Byzantinist in her own right. As a youngbride, she
had accompanied her husband abroad, where they both attended the same classes
on theology, history, archacology, and art history. Later, she became his steady
companion on archacological expeditions and excavations in Greece, Turkey,
Cyprus,and Sinai.*’ Her very first publication on the enigmatic church of Skripou
in 1931 was followed by numerous articles, appearing mainly after the 1950s, on
subjects varying from the early Palacologan Renaissance to the so-called Milutin
school, and places stretching from northern Greece to Cyprus.** Doula Mouriki
has perceptively observed that Maria Soteriou’s ‘main restriction was the fact that

7 dutodnn, Tedylog Ayy. Zwtnoiov’, pp. 25-26.

38 1 owe this piece of information to the formidable memory of Prof. P. L. Vocotopoulos.

7 Lwnpiov, E ixdveg Thc povijc Ziva, 1, 6.

* dutgdkn, Tedyog Ayy. Zwtnoiov’, pp. 22-23.

“! A number of photographs from the Soteriou archive show the couple in these places. See
Avtwvng TodiaAog, ‘O I'ecpyog Zwtnplov kot to €0yo Tov’, in Ao 1 Xprotiavikn
XvAdoyn oto BuCavtivé Movaeio, ed. by I'koatliov and Aalapidov, no. 495 (in J. Strzy-
gowski’s seminar in Vienna, 1911), no. 516 (in the Archbishopric of Cyprus), nos 565.1-2 (Nea
Anchialos excavations), no. 581.1 (George and Maria Soteriou studying pottery and metal finds
from the Ephesus excavation, August 1922).

#2 See her list of publications, compiled by Doula Mouriki in AXAE, © ' (1977-79), ' —f.
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she usually worked like a medieval artist: despite her rare dynamism, she often
battled without claiming the recognition she rightly deserved’.*?

As soon as Porphyrios received the second volume of the publication he wrote
to the Soterious. The letter may be brief, butits tone is cordial. Dated 26 July 1958,
itis for the first time addressed to both ‘Professor Georgios Soteriou and his hon-
orable wife, Mrs Maria’. The Archbishop acknowledges the receipt of the second
volume of this ‘splendid in appearance and important in content’ work. He also
expresses his ‘sincere congratulations and warmest thanks’, wishing that ‘the Father
of light and donor of wisdom bestows unfaltering health and long life upon you
[i.e. Soteriou and his wife], in order to fulfill the holy and wonderful work of
describing the history of the venerable icons and the rest of the artefacts, which
adorn the mostsacred temples of our holy religion and where the name of our Lord
Jesus s glorified’. This time he concludes his letter in a much warmer tone, signing
‘with deep love and every honour’.**

Scholarly reviews were equally acclamatory. Reacting almost instantly to the
publication of the first volume, B. Bouvier wrote that this is ‘une véritable révéla-
tion [...] il [lelivre] nous permet de compléter d’'importanteslacunes danshistoire
de la peinture paléo-chrétienne et byzantine’ (a true revelation [...] it enables us to
complete important gaps in the history of Early Christian and Byzantine paint-
ing).” F. Halkin wrote in Analecta Bollandiana:

lesicones formeraient une galerie d’'une abondance, d’une variété, d’'une richesse insoupgo-
nées. Le directeur du Musée byzantine d’Athénes et Mme Sotiriou sont allées sur place a
¢tudier cette collection unique. Laissant de coté des centaines et des centaines d’ exemplaires
plus récents ou moins intéressants, ils ont choisi environ 200 pitces parmi les plus an-
ciennes et les plus caractéristiques. Le luxuricux album etle volume de texte [...] constituent
une sorte d’histoire illustrée de I'icone byzantine, du v* au XV* siecles.*

[the icons would have formed a gallery of unfathomable abundance, variety and wealth.
The director of the Byzantine Museum in Athensand Madam Soteriou have gone to study
this unique collection in situ. Having put aside hundreds and hundreds of more recent or
less interesting examples, they have chosen around two hundred pieces among the most
ancient and most characteristic. The luxurious album and the volume with the text [...]
constitute a sort of illustrated history of the Byzantine icon, from the fifth to the fifteenth
centuries. ]

* NtovAa Movgikn, Magia T. Zwtiov’, AXAE, ® ' (1977-79), (' (p. V).
H Appendix, Letter D.

4S]ourmzl de Genéve, 29-30 September 1956, 223.

% dnalecta Bollandiana, 76 (1958), 433-35.
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When the second volume with the text appeared two years later, Friedrich
Deichmann observed:

Das monumentale Werk bedeuted eine aussergewohnliche Bereicherungunserer Kentniss
der Byzantinischen Malerei. Wihrend Wulff-Alpatov 40 Ikonen veroffentlichte, sind in
S.s. Werk 238 publiziert [...] die vielfiltige Problemstellung, die sich aus dieser einzigartigen
Sammlung ergibt, ist von den Verfassern bertihrt and sie haben bereits Wesentliches zu
ihrer Losung beigetragcn.4’—

[This monumental work represents an unusual enrichment of our knowledge of Byzantine
painting. While Wulff-Alpatov*® published forty icons, 238 are published in Soterious’
work [...] the multiple problem, which arises from this unique collection, is touched upon
by the authors and they have already contributed essentially to the solution.]

André Grabar’s review, though critical at points, was equally jubilant:

Depuis la publication par Lichatchev de ses recucils monumentaux des Matériaux pour
Thistoire de la peinture d’icones russes (1911), aucun livre n’a enrichi notre documentation
sur les icones byzantines autant que le présent ouvrage de Georges et Marie Sotiriou. Il
s’agit d’'une véritable révélation que l'auteur de la recension qui suit est particuli¢rement
heureux de pouvoir présenter aux lecteurs des Cabiers Archéologigues, apres avoir félicité les
infatigables auteurs de I'ouvrage et leur éditeurs francais de leur contribution essentielle a
nos études [...]. On est d’autant plus impressionné par la découverte des Sotiriou; et 'on
peut parler d’'une vraie découverte, car la richesse exceptionnelle en icénes du Mont Sinai
n’avait pas été signalée par aucun voyageur avant cux. Il faut croire que ces voyageurs
n’avaient pas eu acces au dépdt d’ icones anciennes que M. et Mme Sotiriou ont eu le privi-
lege d’examiner. Ce qu’ ils publient est un choix de photographies qu’ils y firent prendre.
Il ne s’agit donc pas d’un album complet des icones du Sinai [...]. Mais 'album Sotiriou, tel
qu’il est, est d’ un richesse exceptionnelle, puisqu’ il comprend plus de deux cent icones
inédites [...] et parce que plus de la moiti¢ de ses icones sont antérieures 4 la basse-époque
byzantine et remontent 4 la longue période antérieure (VI‘~XII° siecle) qui en dehors du
Sinai n’est pas représentée du tout, ou par quelques pieces exceptionnelles et isolées.””

[Since the publication by Likhachev of his monumental anthology, Materials for a History
of Russian Icon Painting,” no book has enriched our research material on Byzantine icons
as much as the present work by Georgios and Maria Soteriou. This is a true revelation that
the author of this review is particularly happy to be able to present to the readers of Cabiers
archéologiques, after having congratulated the indefatigable authors of this work and their

Y7 BZ,51 (1958), 507.

48 Oskar Wulffand Michael Alpatov, Denkmadler der Ikonenmalerei in kunstgeschichtlicher Folge
(Hellerau bei Dresden: Avalun Verlag, 1925).

¥ Cahiers archéologiques, 10 (1959), 31317 (p. 313).

5% N. P. Likhachev, Materials for a History of Russian Icon Painting (St Petersburg: [n.pub.],
1906).
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French editors for their vital contribution to our [Byzantine] studies [...]. All the more
reason to be impressed by the discovery made by the Soterious; and one can talk of a true
discovery, since the exceptional richness of Mount Sinai in icons had not been reported by
any traveller before them. One is forced to believe that these travellers did not have access
to the repository of ancient icons that Mr and Mrs Soteriou had the privilege of examining.
The ones which they publish are a choice of photographs they have made. In this sense it
is not a complete album of icons from Sinai [...]. But the Soteriou album, such as it is, has
an exceptional richness [of material], since it comprises more than two hundred unpub-
lished icons [...] and because more than half of these icons predate the late Byzantine era
and come from the previous long period (sixth to twelfth century), which outside Sinai is
not represented at all, or only by some exceptional or isolated pieces.]

After the publication of the second volume in 1958, the leading Greek Byzantinist
Manolis Chatzedakes wrote:
L) 0e10a TV Aapmo@v ékdécewv tod FaAA koD Tvotitovtov cUUTATEWONKE
N’ £1doon UAS A0 TIG TOAVTIHOTEQES dNUOOLEVOELS TOV [...]. Al Eikoveg tig
MovAig Zwvi” & petvouv yix moAA& xoovia paoukd doyavo peAétng [...]. ‘O
TAODTOG AT TOD DAIKOD AVOLyeL YL TOV peAeTn T vEOous éVTeADS dOOOUS Vi
™) Yvwoupia Thg TéXvng tg € lkovag.™
[In the series of the illustrious editions by the French Institute one of its most precious
publications has come out [...].The Icons of Mount Sinai will remain for years to come a

basic study tool [...]. The richness of the material opens up brand new roads for the
researcher who wants to get acquainted with the art of the icon.]

In the same article, Chatzedakes acknowledges Maria Soteriou’s critical contribu-
tion in processing this material and extols the authors’ (knowledge of the art of the
era, the astute observation and the scientific method, which make this work stand
out’. When he was writing, the American scientific expedition, headed by Professor
Kurt Weitzmann, was already on its way to Sinai. Chatzedakes did not conceal his
pride that a Greek scholar had been there first: “Opwe 1) EAAN VU Eriotiun pé
& Attd g péoa kal pé T mdbog g, £xetto mooPadiopa’ (However, Greek
scholarship, with its frugal means and its passion, has precedence).

This first two-volume edition by the Soterious seems humble, both in size and
quality, in comparison to subsequent, more colourful and monumental, publica-
tions of the Sinai icons.”® However, before the Soterious’ publication, they were
virtually unknown to the outside world. Early descriptions of the monastery barely

R ) Bijua, 8 June 1958, 3. I am indebted to Dimitris Psychoyos for the speedy electronic
dispatch of this article.

52 It measures 28 x 22 cm and, understandably, the overwhelming majority of the photographs
are in black and white.
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indicated the wealth of material kept there, while the Russian archimandrite Por-
phyrij Uspenskij was mainly interested in manuscripts.”® Uspenskij removed four
encaustic icons from Sinai (today in the Bohdan and Varvara Khanenko Museum
of Arts in Kiev), and this is all the world knew abouticon painting on Sinai. Subse-
quent publications by Strzygowski, Ainalov, Kondakov, and Petrov mentioned
only the early encaustic specimen.’* A rather more comprehensive, but still very
limited, list was given by Benesevic in his Monumenta sinaitica, who published nine
icons from the monastery, including the two mosaic icons with the Virgin and St
Demetriusand the Crusader icon with the Virgin of the Burning Bush with Moses,
Elijah, and Gregory Nanzianzenus.” It was with the landmark study by the two
indefatigable and dedicated Greek scholars that the significance of this unique
collection of Byzantine art was revealed, appreciated, and shared with the rest of
the scholarly community.

In June 1956, the very same year that the first volume of the Soteriou book
appeared in press, Professor Kurt Weitzmann of Princeton University, together
with Professor George Forsyth of the University of Michigan, visited Sinai for the
first time. Although Weitzmann had tried to reach Sinai as early as 1931 in order
to study illuminated manuscripts keptin the monastery’slibrary, both his firstand
subsequent two attempts failed. In 1931 he was turned back by an attack of typhus,
then in the summer of 1939, by the outbreak of World War II, and in 1951 by the
Suez crisis.”® When he finally reached Sinai, he spent five days at the monastery,
working almost exclusively on the manuscript collection. The library was, of course,
housed next to the icon gallery, which had been built on Soteriou’s initiative.

Weitzmann very eloquently describes the impact that the discovery of the icons
had on him:

>3 P, Uspenksij, First Journey to the Monastery of Sinai in the Year 1845 (St Petersburg: [n.pub.],
1856); Uspenksij, Second Journey to the Monastery of Sinai in the Year 1850 (St Petersburg:
[n.pub.], 1856) [both in Russian].

54 J. Strzygowski, Byzantinische Denkmaler, 3 vols (Vienna: [n.pub.],1891),1,116. D. Ainalov,
‘Enkaustische Ikonen vom Sinai’, Vizantinski Viemenik, 10 (1902), 34-41. N. Kondakov, Die
Tkonen vom Sinai und Athos der Sammlung des hochw. Porphyrij Uspenskij (St Petersburg: [n.pub.],
1902). P. Petrov, Album of Objects of Interest at the Ecclesiastical Museum of the Religious Academy
of Kiev, vol. 1: The Collection of Icons from Sinai and Athos (Kiev: [n.pub.], 1912).

>3 V. Benesevie, Monumenta sinaitica, archaeologica et palacographica (St Petersburg: Rossijskaja
Gosudarstvennaja Akademicheskaja Tipografija, 1925), fig. 1 and pls 17-24, esp. pls 19-21.

5¢ Kure Weitzmann, Sailing with Byzantium from Europe to America: The Memoirs of an Art
Historian (Munich: Editio Maris, 1994), pp. 253, 256-57.
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When I saw the collection in the room marked at its entrance ‘Picture Gallery’ in English,
I had one of the greatest surprises of my life. Here were gathered icons from the fifth to the
sixth century on, and nowhere in the world is there such a wealth of icons dating before the
twelfth century. Here one was faced with a collection that established a continuity from
the fifth century without interruption to modern times. From the momentI'saw the icons
I began to spend a good deal of my time in the ‘Picture Gallery’ and to take a close look at
the icons in the church and the many chapels within the walls of the monastery.””

On his way back to the United States, Weitzmann stopped in Cairo to pay a
visit to the Archbishop and told him that he would like to come back and work not
only on the manuscripts but on the icons as well. At that point, he was presented
with a copy of the Soteriou book, which had just appeared, and was told that the
couple ‘had doneitall’. Weitzmann insisted that he had catalogued more than two
thousand icons, when the Soterious had published ‘only about 150’ and thus got
permission to work on the icons as well. Two years later, on 23 April 1958, the year
that the second volume of the Soteriou publication came out, what was to become
the ‘Princeton-Michigan-Alexandria expedition to Sinai’ sailed from Naples to
Alexandria.’®

When Weitzmann set up his Sinai expedition, he was clearly following
Soteriou’s steps: he took over where the Soterious had left off. Weitzmann’s con-
tribution to the Festschrift volume dedicated to Georgios Soteriou, appropriately
placed first, is a befitting acknowledgement of their contribution to the discovery
of the Sinai icons:

Not since the days of Kondakoff has our knowledge of Byzantine art been so broadened
by a single person as it has been by George Soteriou [...]. This publication [on the icons of
Sinai] may well be considered their most influential one in the future. They had clearly
realized that Sinai has by far the most important icon collection in existence and the
increasing awareness of icon art, far beyond the interests of Byzantinists, will have to take
the Sinai material into account as the basis for all future studies concerning that which, in
Byzantine culture, was the central branch of pictorial art. We can think of no more
appropriate way of honoring Professor Soteriou than to add another brick to a building for
which he and Mrs. Soteriou have laid a solid foundation.’

> Weitzmann, Sailing with Byzantium, pp. 258-59.
> Weitzmann, Sailing with Byzantium, pp. 259-61.

*? Kurt Weitzmann, ‘Fragments of an Early St Nicholas Triptych on Mount Sinai’, AXAE, A’
(1964-65), 1-23 (p. 1).
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Appendix
Letters Exchanged between Georgios Soteriou and Archbishop Porphyrios
Letter A

Ev Zwva tf 13 PeBoovapiov 1933

T éAAoypwTatw Kabnyntf tod ITaveniotnpiov
kal AtevBvuvtn tod BuCavtivod Movoelov

Kvoiw x. I'. Zwtnolov

Eic’AOnvag

EAAoyinotate Kvote Kabnynta,

"EA&Bopev 1o &md 29 m[ageABdvtoc] unvog tipov p@v yodpupa dt” o
ayyéAete Muiv v APy tod kat’ €vtoAnv nudv dobévtog Lulv woalov
el Lwva €oyov, 6meo éyoade pév 6 dodpog Kwv. ITanapiyalomnoviog,
£E€dwKe ¢ TVToLc 1) Tepa AV Movr] Kal HeTd TV eVoeBOV kal eDyevRV
OMEQ avTHS aloOnuatwy dtva ékdpoalete émi Tf ebkatpia tavTy, ebxeoOe
v alwbnrte va émwokedOnte avtnv iva éx tod ovveyyvg 1dnte tovg
moAvTipove ONoavEovg tod mMvevpatog kal ThHe TéXvng oitves (nAotvmwg
dLVAGOTOVTAL VIO OALYWV € KAOTOTE EAA VWV HOVAX®OV éTL DeEKATETTEQAG
OAorAngovs ai@vas. Eivar tf &AnBeie Avmnodov, @c xal 1 Opetéoa
EAAoypoe magatneet, 6tt &xot tod vdv, €ktoc tov Kabnyntod k.
"Apavrtov kal tod F'vpvaotaeyov k. ITavteAdkn, povov Eévol moAAol kata
KALQOUG EMOKEMTOVTALTO LIVA KAl EVIQUPADOLYV €V TO MAOLOWTATY avTOD
TIVELVHATIKY ALUOVLIKAL AapBavovortnv do&av, Tic AviikeLkLQIWG € L¢ TOVG
EAANVas. ’AAA” 6 Onoavdg odTog EAAoyIpwTate, elvat katd 1o TAelotov
€Tl avekpetaAdevtog kal avapéver TOUG JKALOVUEVOLS  Kal
anokadovpévovs ‘EAAnvag va éudavicwow avtov @ amavtaxod
ETOTNUOVIKY KOOTU®.

Eivaidmeonpavog, EAAoypdtate Kvote Kabnyntd, 1) teoa jpdv Movi) tod
Ywa éxovoa petald dAAwv kfjouka peyaddpwvov g onuacioag abtng v’
SAag tac émodelc kat Kabnyntyv g duetéoag meowwmnnig, Oa elvat d¢
evTLXNG Alav éav TOXN TG € MokéPews THS DHeTéag éAAoYdTNTOG, fTIg
elvar {datéowe dopodia va éxtiunon Tt GvAacodpeva v adTh
TOALTIHOTATA KeUNALX THS AHWUNTOV HOV TOTEWS KAl TS TEOYOVIKAG
codlag.
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Mé v dtdmuov X1V 6w é KMANEWOR 6 MOBOg OV kal Vudv déEaoDe,
Kvote Kabnynta, mv dwapepaiwov mic ¢Eatgétov meog DA bMoANYews
ued’ Mg dxteAoduev,

‘O Zwalov IToedvotog

Letter B

T® éAAoypotaty Kvoilw IN'ewoyin TZwtnotov
"Akadnpaik® Kadnyntf tov [Tavemotnuiov ’ABnvav
KATL.  KAT. KA.
Eic Kvmoov
EAAoyuwtate Kooe Kabnynta,

‘Acpévag [...] 10 and 14. to[éxovtoc] Tipov “Yudv yodupa, dU ob ud
nAngodogeite Tl &dveTtéOn VULV LTO T AVTAS ¢ [LoxdtnTog] ToD émi g
Mawelag “Yroveyod k. FewoyakomovAov va émokepOfte THv Tepav v
Movrjv tod Ziva mog peAétnv kal vmodel&wv Npiv pefodkng tavounoews
OV PvAattopévwv v avTh MOALTIHWY OVTWwG KeNAiwv g TéXVNC,
omevdw DX THS MAEOVONG VA [...] dladNAwow év mEdTolg TV €l AucQuvijv
XaQdv pov émi Tf XaoHooUve tavTy mAngodogly, eita 9 v dpégw év
YVAOOTELOHQV OTL TTEOTIOéUEVOS KAYW VA € TIoTEED® ¢V ZIvaE KATA TAG AQXAS
TovAlov, O aloBavO® Ldattégav evxaplotnow éav pol dobH 1) ebratgia
va ovvtalwevow ped DOV kal g éottipov Kvpiag Zwtneiov wg kat tob
dwroypddov k. Tolpa.

Tadta dvakowovuevog VUV kal T& KQATIOTA € TEVXOUEVOG,

Ev Katow 1938 AlateA®,

Maiov 22 Mét ayamnng kal Tpig
‘O Zwalov ITopdpvtog

Letter C

EAAoypotatov Kovgov K™ I'. Zwtnotov
KaObnyntmv tod ITavemiotnuiov
KA KA KA
Eic’AOnvag
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EAAoyuwtate Kooe Kabnynta,

"Amo 24 Tavovagiov xpovoAoyeitat) mEog éué Tipia E€mMOTOAN oag, eig v
HOALS o1jpeQoV Amavtd. Avti maong dikatoAoying o&s (Nt avyyvdunv dik
v Boadvtntd pov tavv. ‘O k. PoaykoVANG eig TOV 6Molov dvekolvwoa
myv émbvuilav oag 6o0ov &poeld O CHTNpa TtV tetx@v ¢ Tepdg Npev
Movrg, pol dmivinoev 8L 10 maxos avt@v d&v elvat o adTd kal elg Tag
T£00AQAG MAEVOAG, 0V £XeLdVOTLXWS OTHELDOT TAS dlaaTagels. Eav 0001
evkapia va petaff kat maAw eic 10 Lwva, d¢ éAntilopev TOV TEOOEXN
Tovviov, O& poovtion Alav edxaQloTwe Vi ékTANEWon TV é tBvpiav Lac.

‘H é¢oyaoia moodxwonoev &oketd, mMANV VoAelmetatr AOKET& AKOUN
GAAT E€xwpev OU° €Amidog 6tL Ba dvvnOduev T Tod Beod xdotTL VA&
OTeEYAOWHEV OAOKANQOV TV 0LKODOUNV KAl VA ETOWHACWHEV TNV
BiBA0Oknv kat v ITivakoOrknv.

To Bavudoov BipAlov buav mepl T@V ketpunAiwv 100 O LkovHEVIKOD
[Matowxpyxetov EAafov kal eOXaQLOTOV O QUG EmL T ATOOTOAR TOVTOV €16
éug ovyxalow dUiv émi tf coPfagd tavtn éoyaoia kal ebxopat OAoPUXwS
dnwe kal t& keunAx tod vk meouyodyn O evoePrc kal yAaduveog
K&Aapog Vp@v. To € ykwputov bpu@v mepl att@v év 1 ‘Néa Eotia’ avéyvwv
pet’ edvortov évdtadéQovtog dAA& kal ned’ dmeondaveiag adpod 1 x&ots
00 @e0D NOOOKNOE V& T&EN kat MHES PEOVEOVS TOLVTWYV KAl TOTOVTWV
MOAVTIHWY eV Onoavo®v. Eav d¢ pac &éwwon va dopev adrtovg
tomoBetnuévouvg eig v éumpénovoav B0 kal dHoctevopévoug Lo ToD
codpod kafnyntod kvpilov I'. Zwtnolov 1) xaod fpdv éotat TANENG.

Tac avapvnotwkas dowtoyoadiag EAafov év kale®d AAA& d&v
évOvpodpatl éav éonpelwoa TODTO HETA TAOV €VXAQLOTIOV HOL &V TH
£ TOTOAT pov mEoOG TV épitipov Kupiav Zwtneiov. 'Eav éAnoudvnoa ég pot
ETTEATH VA& evXaQOTHow Lpac BOeopdtata émi tavtals, aitweg
dleveunOnoav eig To0G MATEQAS €V KALOY.

[Tooodépwv ta 0éPn pov eig v evyeveotatnv Kvoiav Zwtnoiov,
drateA® mEog buag éAAoypnotate Koote Kabnynta,

peta Pabelag VoA Pews katl TIufg,
6 Xwaiov IToodpvolog
Ev Katoe 1939
12 Magriov



PAVING THE ROAD TO SINAI 33

Letter D

Ev Kaiow T1h 26/7/1958

T® a&otiny kveiw I'ewoylw Lwneiov,
"Axadnuaik®d, Kadnyntf tod Havemiomuiov,
oUV T €outipw ovlvyw avtod Kvole Magia

Ev’ABfvaig

EANGON dopaddg 10 Aaumeov eic épdpavioww xal omovdailov eig
meQlexopevov €oyov vp@v ‘Elkdves thc Movihg Xwa’, topog B™, katl
é¢xdoalopev ORIV Ta el Akowvn ovyxaonTiowx NUAOV Kl tas VAoBéouovg
NUOV evxapoTiag evxOpevol 0Mws o Iatie tOv pwtwv katl g codlag
xoonyog é¢mwdaPidevn dutv vyeiav akAdvntov kal Plov pakedTatov peta
navtog £petoD, iva é miteAnte AvEéTwg TO LeQOV VROV Kal Bavpaotov €gyov
g meQryoadnc Kal TG (0Togiag TV OemMTtOV eikOVWV kal Aomdv
KAAALTEXVIKOV AVTIKELPHEV@OV DL’ OV KOOHOoDVTaLTd OeldTata Ths AyLlwTdTng
MUV Bonokeiag tepévn kal dofaletal 1o 6vopa tod Kvpiov kal Oeod kal
Lwtiog udv Inood Xoloto.

Meta BaBelag dAyanng kal mM&oNG TIUNG
‘O Zwvaiov ITopodpvotog





